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HAMILTON HEIGHTS
RISTORIC DISTRICT EXTENSION, MANHATTAN

Boundaries

Area I of the Hamilton Heights Historic District Extension consists of the property bounded by a
line beginning at a point in the center of the intersection of St. Nicholas Avenue and West 145th
Street, then extending southerly along a line in the middle of the roadbed of St. Nicholas Avenue
to a point on a line extending easterly from the southern property line of 695 St. Nicholas Avenue
(aka 394-398 West 145th Street), westerly along a line extending easterly from the southern
property lines of 695 St. Nicholas Avenue (aka 394-398 West 145th Street), westerly along the
southern property lines of 695 St. Nicholas Avenue (aka 394-398 West 145th Street) and 400
through 418 West 145th Street, northerly along the western property line of 418 West 145th
Street, northerly along a line extending northerly from the western property line of 418 West
145th Street to a point in the middle of the roadbed of West 145th Street, and easterly along a
line in the middle of the roadbed of West 145th Street, to the point of beginning.

Area IT of the Hamilton Heights Historic District Extension consists of the property bounded by a
line beginning at the point of intersection of the northern and eastern property lines of 63-75
Hamilton Terrace, then extending southerly along the eastern property lines of 63-75 Hamilton
Terrace and 53-61 Hamilton Terrace, westerly along the southern property line of 53-61 Hamilton
Terrace, westerly along a line extending westerly from the southern property line of 53-61
Hamilton Terrace to a point on a line in the roadbed that extends southerly from the eastern
property line of 413 West 144th Street, northerly along said line in the roadbed (this kine is part of
the eastern boundary of the Hamilton Heights Historic District), easterly along part of the ’
southern property line of Lot 136, and easterly along the northem property line of 63-75

Hamilton Terrace, to the point of beginning.

Area ITI of the Hamilton Heights Historic District Extension consists of the property bounded by
a line beginning at a point in the center of the intersection of Convent Avenue and West 141st
Street, then extending southerly along a line in the middle of the roadbed of Convent Avenue 1o a
point in the middle of the intersection of Convent Avenue and West 140th Street, westerly along a
line in the middle of the roadbed of West 140th Street to a point on a line extending southerly
from the western property line of 260 Convent Avenue (aka 451 West 140th Street), northerly
along a line extending southerly from the western property line of 260 Convent Avenue (aka 451
West 140th Street), northerly along the western property lines of 260 Convent Avenue (aka 451
West 140th Street) and 270 Convent Avenue (aka 444-50 West 141st Street), northerly along a
line extending northerly from the western property line of 270 Convent Avenue (444-50 West



" 141st Street) to a point in the middle of the roadbed of West 141st Street, and easterly along the
rmddlc of the o adbed of West 141st Street to the point of beginning. .

Area XV of the Hamilton He1ghts H:stonc Dnsmct extension conmsts of the propeny bounded by
a line beginning at a point in the center of the intersection of Amsterdam Avenue and West 145th
‘Street, then extending easterly along a line in the middle of the roadbed of West 145th Streettoa .
point on a line extending northerly from the eastern property line of 450 West 145th Street,
southerly along a line extending northerly from the eastern property line of 450 West 145th
Street, southerly.along the eastern property line of 450 West 145th Street, westerly along the
southern property lines of 450 through 476 West 145th Street, southerly along the eastern
property line of 477 West 144th Street (aka 1697-1705 Amsterdam Avenue), southerly across
West 144th Street; southerly along the eastern property lines of 476 West 144th Street (aka 1689-
1695 Amsterdam Avenue) and 477 West 143rd Street (aka 1681-1687 Amsterdarm Avenue), -
southerly along a line extending southerly from the eastern property line of 477 West 143rd Street
(aka 1689-1687 Amsterdam) to a point in the middle of the roadbed of West 143rd Street,
casterty along a lirie in the middle of the roadbed of West 143rd Street to a point in the center of -
the intersection of West 143rd Street and Convent Avenue, southerly along a line in the middle of
" the roadbed of Convent Avenueto a point in the center of the intersection of Convent Avenue

and West 142nd Street, westerly along a line in the middle of the roadbed of West 142nd Street to

a point on.a line extending northerly from part of the eastern property line of 1641-1659
Amsterdam Avenue, southerly along part of the easten property line of 1641-1659 Amsterdam

. Avenue, easterly along part of the northern property line of 1641-1659 Amsterdam Avenue,
southerly along part of the eastern property line of 1641-1659 Amsterdam Avenue, southerly

- across West 141st Street, southerly along the easiern property line of 476 West 141st Street (aka
1627-1633 Amsterdam Avenue), easterly along part of the nerthern property line of 477 West
140th Street (aka 1619-1625 Amsterdam Avenue), southerly along.the eastern property line of
477 West 140™ Street, southerly along a line extending southerly from the eastern property line of
477 West 140th Street (aka 1619-1625 Amsterdam Avenue), to point on a line in the middle of-
the roadbed of West 140th Street, westerly along a line in the middle of the roadbed of West
140th Street to a point in the center the intersection of West 140th Street and Amsterdam
Avenue, and northerly along a line i in the middle of the roadbed of Amsterdam Avenue, to the
point of beginning. .
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TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARING

On September 21, 1999 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on
the proposed designation of the Hamilton Heights Historic District Extension (Item No. 1). The
hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of law. Eight witnesses spoke
in support of designation, including Councilman Stanley Michaels and representatives of the
Manhattan Borough President Virginia Fields, the Sugar Hill Historic District Association, the
New York Landmarks Conservancy, the Hamilton Heights Community Association, the Society.
for the Architecture of the City, and the Historic Districts Council. No witnesses spoke in
opposition to designation. The Commission has received letters and other communications

. expressing support and opposition to this designation, several of which expressed interest in a

larger designation in the Hamilton Heights area. .

INTRODUCTION

The Hamilton Heights Historic District Extension consists of 51 buildings, including 31
row houses, 17 apartment buildings, and 3 refated (and contiguous) ecclesiastical structures.
Located in northwestern Manhattan, from the north side of 140th Street to the south side of 145th
Street, and from the east side of Amsterdam Avenue to the west side of St. Nicholas Avenue, the
Extension expands the Historic District's present boundaries (designated November 1974) to
more completely reflect Hamilton Heights' residential development.

Over the past four centuries, Hamilton Heights has had a succession of names, all referring
to its elevated geographic position. Under Dutch rule the area was known as Jochem Pietersen’s
Hills, and later, under the British, Harlem Heights. During the siege of Manhattan in 1776,
General George Washington retreated to Harlem Heights for several weeks, establishing his
headquarters at the present location of West 161st Street and Edgecombe Avenue. Following
several skirmishes with British troops, some of which occurred within the boundaries of the
Historic District, the Continental Army evacuated to White Plains.

Alexander Hamilton, who served under General Washington during the battles of Harlem
Heights and White Plains, acquired a 32-acre tract in Harlem Heights in August 1800. At the -
center of his property, near the present intersection of West 144th Street and Convent Avenue, he
commissioned a 12-room Federal-style mansion (a designated New York City Landmark) as well
as various out-buildings from the prominent New York architect John McComb, Jr. Although
Hamilton occupied the house for fewer than four years, the building (moved two blocks south in
1889) and neighborhood that surrounds it, remains closely associated with this American patriot.

Hamilton Heights retained its rural character until the mid-1880s when a cable car railway
began operating on Tenth (now Amsterdam) Avenue between West 125th and 155th Streets.
During this period, William H. De Forest, a silk merchant and real estate speculator, acquired
much of the former Hamilton property. In 1886 he created a restrictive covenant limiting future
construction to “brick or stone dwelling houses at least two stories in height.” One exception was
made, along 10® Avenue, where both apartment buildings and commercial storefronts were
permitted beside the railway. To spur development in accordance with his plan, De Forest's son,



William De Forest, Jr,, comrmssmned the arch;tect Harvey L: Page to des:gn an-apartment

building and four adjoining townhouses in the Queen-Anne style at the southwest corner of Tenth

(now Amsterdam) Avenue and West 144th Street. This pattern was maintainéd throughout the

district, with mostly three-story residences along the numbered streets, Convent Avenue, and:

Hamilton Terrace; and a continuous row of mainly six-story apartments on the east side of

~ Amsterdam Avenue, extending from West 140th Street to 145th Street. In several instances, a

- unified urban ensemble was created in which the corner apartments and the adjacent townhouses

were designed by the same architects, mcludmg designs by such residential specialists as Clarence

True and Neville & Bagge. '

Throughout the first decade of the. twentieth century, Hamilton Heights retamed 1ts '

" ‘character as small-scale residential district. In 1906 the neighborhood's last group of single-family
homes was built on the north side of West 141st Street, between Convent and Amsterdam

_ Avenue During the decade that followed, DeForest’s restrictions expired and a group of
apartment buildings, some as tall as ten stories, were erected along Convent Avenue and Hamilton

+ Terrace, increasing the neighborhood's scale and density. This second wave of urbanization is also
recognized in the Hamilton Heights Historic District Extension, including such neo-Renaissance
style apartment houses as Nos. 61 and 75 Hamilton Terrace, the Sadivian Arms, and No. 270

_Convent Avenue. Architects active in the design of these and other later buildings in the extension
include: Neville & Bagge, Frank L. Norton, and Schwartz & Gross. With unbroken rows of
handsome townhouses, contemporaneous apartment buildings and religious structures, Hamilton
Heights is one of the city’s most architecturally distinctive enclaves.



HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE HAMILTON
HEIGHTS HISTORIC DISTRICT EXTENSION

The early history of the area’

Throughout the first half of the seventeenth century the West India Company encouraged
the development of New Netherland® through generous land grants to settlers. While many
preferred the security and convenience of Manhattan's fortified southern tip, called New
Amsterdam, a small number chose to establish farms in the island’s wooded north. Among these
early pioneers was forty-two year old Captain Jochem Pietersen Kuyter, who in 1639 received a’
four hundred acre land grant in recognition of past military service in the East Indies for King
Christian IV.> Kuyter's property stretched across the island from what is now 122" Street on the
East River to 145" Street on the Hudson River. While he developed the rich flat parcels to the
southeast as a plantation, the elevated grounds on the west, later known as “Jochem Pietersen's
Hills,” remained uninhabited.

Life in Manhattan's rural north proved difficult for Kuyter and his wife Leentie Martensie.
A “blazing arrow" was said to have destroyed their thatch-roofed farmhouse in 1644, and during
the decade that followed both were murdered during a series of land disputes with the Munsee
Indians.* Despite these difficulties, Dutch officials continued to encourage development. In 1658
the town of Nieuw Haarlem was officially created by the colony’s governor Peter Stuyvesant,
incorporating "the land of Jochem Pietersen, deceased, and those which are adjoining it."* Grants
were offered 10 prospective residents, which soon included “eleven Frenchmen, four Walloons,
four Danes, three Swedes, three Germans, and seven Dutchmen.”® Under British rule a fixed
boundary was established between Harlem and New York in 1666, extending from what is now

' This portion of the essay is based mainly on LPC, Hamilton Heights Historic District
Designation Report (LP-0872) (New York: City of New York, 1974), Andrew S. Dolkart, “The
Architecture and Development of Harlem," Touring Historic Harlem (New York: New York
Landmarks Conservancy, 1997), 7-16.

? See Edwin Burrows and Mike Wallace, Gotham: A History of New York City to 1898
(Oxford University Press, 1999), 20.

3 James Riker, Revised History of Harlem: Its Origin and Early Annals (New York: New
Harlem Publishing Company, 1904), 133.

4 Ibid., 144.
3 Ibid., 170.

® Burrows and Wallace, 70.



East 74® Street on the East River to West 129" Street on the Hudson River. In the decades that
followed, however the two cities came to be considered one.”

Over the past four centuries, Hamilton Heights has been known by a succession of names
-- all referring to its elevated geographic position. Toward the end of the seventeenth century, the
area above Harlem’s central plain became known as Harlem Heights. Attracted by rich soil, cool
breezes and panoramic views, wealthy British families established comfortable country estates
here, inclading General John Maunsell, Dr. Samuel Bradhurst, and Jacob Schiefflin, a wholesale
- druggist.® For instance, less than a mile from the northern boundary of the Historic District, at
what is now West 160" Street, Roger Morris, a lieutenant colonel in the British Army, established
a “pleasant and much-admired country seat” consisting of one hundred and thirty acres of “arable
pasture and meadow land” in 1764. At the center of the property stood an elegant house of
Georgian design {later known as the Morris-Jumel Mansion, 1765, a designated New York City
Landmark) with “a prospect as extensive, varied and delightful as any seat in the United States.”™

Such commanding views would also serve military needs. During the Revolutionary War,
Harlem Heights was the site of an-important éarly victory for the American troops. Following its
defeat by British and Hessian soldiers at the Battle of Brooklyn in August 1776, the Continental
Army fled across the East River to the hills of northwestern Manhattan, Morris, who remained
loyal to the British crown, had abandoned his house the previous year, ‘and General George
‘Washington used it as his headguarters, supervising the construction of temporary fortifications
throughout the “Heights of Harlem.”™® British forces pursued Washington and several clashes

7 Dolkart, 8.

% General John Maunsell wrote to Major Gates in 1767: "I have retired to a place in
Harlem where once Laurence (Low) lived on the top of the Hill as you go from Harlem to Kings
Bridge and if T could live on prospect, surely I should fare well in my current abode as I have a
view of the East River meandering for many miles, and a good prospect of the North River alt
* from the spot I reside on." See I. N. Phelps Stokes, The Iconography of Manhattan Island 1498-
1909 (New York, 1915-28), vol. 4, 775. The Sch1efﬂm house was located at about the current
location of West 144th Street and St. Nicholas Avenue. His property extended west to the
~ Hudson River. Shiefflin and Bradhurst may have been acquainted professionally, both were
druggists located in lower Mammttan with Bradhurst at No. 314 Pearl Street and Slneﬁ]m at No.
193. :

® Advertisement placed by Anthony L. Bleecker & Son, New York Daily Advertiser,
1792, reprint, Morris-Jumel Mansion files, New York City Landmarks Commission.

10 Letter from George Washﬂxgton, October 2, 1776; cited in Stokes, 1028.
6



occurred in the area, between what:is now West 130th and West 145th Streets.”! Although the
American victory was less than decisive, this was the first instance in which the Continental Army
had equaled their much-better trained adversary. In late October 1776, Washington's troops
evacuated to White Plains.

Over the next century, Harlem Heights retained its rural character. In August 1800,
Alexander Hamilton (1755-1804), purchased two adjoining farms from the Schieffelin and
Bradhurst families. The thirty-two acre estate extended from what is now Hamilton Place on the
west, to Hamilton Terrace on the east, and from West 140th Street to0 West 147th Street. Except
for the triangular segment extending north from West 145th Street, the estate’s boundaries were
almost identical to the combined Hamilton Heights Historic District and Hamilton Heights
Historic District Extension. ’

Born in the British West Indies, Hamilton would, throughout his life, maintain strong ties
to his adopted home, New York City. After studying bnefly at King's (now Columbia) College in
the early 1770s, he served as a captain, and later lieutenant colonel, in the Continental Army. In
1780, he married Elizabeth Schuyler (d. 1854), establishing a link with one of the state's most
powerful and prominent families. They had five children: four sons and one daughter. After the
war, Hamilton enjoyed a brief career as a lawyer, inhabiting a residence on Wall Street. He served
as delegate to the Constitutional Convention in Philadelphia in 1787, and in 1789 President
Washington appointed him the nation's first secretary of the treasury. After six years service, first
in New York City, and later in Philadelphia, he resigned to resume his law practice.

The Hamiltons commissioned John McComb, Jr. (1763-1853), one of the city's most
prominent architects, to design their mansion in Harlem Heights. Many designated New York
City Landmarks are attributed to this prolific New York-bom architect, such as the John Watson
House (1793-1806), New York City Hall (with Joseph-Francois Mangin, 1802-1811), and the
Commandants House in the Brooklyn Navy Yard (possibly with Charles Bulfinch, 1805-6).

Hamilton named his home the Grange, recalling his grandfather’s ancestral seat in
Ayrshire, Scotland. Constructed between 1800 and 1803, it is the oldest surviving building within
the Hamilton Heights Historic District. The twelve-room Federal-style mansion was originally
located in the vicinity of what is now West 143rd Street, approximately five hundred feet north of
its present location on the east side of Convent Avenue at West 141st Street. In 1806 the house
was described as:

.. . healthy and beautiful, commanding a view to the east river, Harlem Bridge,
&c, and the ground so advantageously situated and finely wooded to afford every.

' For maps indicating the "Plan of the Battle of Harlem Heights, Sept. 16, 1776" and the
"Position of the American and British Armies from Sept. 16 to Oct. 12, 1776," see Hopper Striker
Mott, The New York of Yesterday: A Descriptive Narrative of Old Bloomingdale (New York: G.
P. Putnam’s Sons, 1908), 38, 40.



improvement of modern gardenjng, which has already been commenced with
happy effect by its late possessor. The Farm contains about 34 acres and is well.-
watered . . .2 _

In addition, to the east of the Grange stood a large barn, mill house hen house, root house, and
ice house.

Hamilton found life in rural Harlem Heights both pleasant and convenient. A place of
escape.and refuge, he described the Grange as “a sweet asylum from care and pain.”"’ Hamilton
supervised the landscaping, planting vegetables, flowers, and thirteen sweet gum trees -- said to
be the gift of George Washington from his farm at Mt. Vernon -- in honor of each of the thirteen
original states. Nevertheless, he continued to travel, to his law office in lower Manhattan, and
when business took him outside the city, to Philadelphia and Albany, taking advantage of the daily
stages that passed close-by on the Bloomingdale Road, now Hamilton Place.

On July 11, 1804 Hamilton lost his life in a duel with Vice President Aaron Burr in
Weehawken, New Jersey. The estate was left to his widow and children along with considerable
debt. Many prominent New Yorkers came to the family's aid, with long-term loans from the
Astors, van Rensselaers, Rhinelanders, and Pierponts, Although the house and land were
advertised for sale, no buyer was found untﬂ 1833 when the estate was purchased by a pair of
speculators for $25,000. _

Twelve years later, in 1845, William G. Ward, a financier with the firm Prime, Ward &
King, acquired the Grange."® "The Wards used the house for more than thirty years as a summer
retreat. Following the Panic of 1873, however, they lost the Hamilton estate through foreclosure.
The Emigrant Savings Bank, which acquired the property that year, sold it for $312,500 to
Anthony Mowbray'® in 1879, who, a month later resold it to a business associate, the silk

2 Advertisement, January 22, 1806, reprinted in "Hamilton Grange: It's History,
Acquisition, and Restoration by the Society for Scenic and Historic America,” Scenic and
H;stonc America, 8.

B Quoted in “Hamilton Grange,” National Parks Serv'ice brochure, 1993.

" This seems unlikely, since George Waslungwn died the year before Hamilton acquired
the property.

> Ward’s daughter was Julia Ward Howe, author of the “Battle Hymn of the Republic.”
See “Two Old Pictures of Hamilton Grange,” Scenic and Historic America, March 1931, 27.

1* The Mowbrays were builders and developers in Manhattan and Brooklyn. His son;'the
architect William E. Mowbray would design eight row houses in the Hamilton Heights Historic
District, as well as the Verona Apartments at 32 East 64® Street (part of the Upper East Side

8



importer William H. De Forest,'":. * -
Speculative Developments, 1880-1900

During the 1880s, elevated railroads were constructed above Second, Third, Eighth and
Ninth Avenues. A cable-car railway was installed on Tenth (now Amsterdam) Avenue by the late
1880s, providing a much-needed rapid transit link between Harlem Heights and the downtown
commercial districts. King's Handbook of New York praised the new railway for its "marvelously
low fares"™® and the Real Estate Record and Guide maintaineclr that “it [was] possible to travel
more quickly by this means from 155th Street and 10th Avenue to the City Hall than to get from
the City Hall to 125th Street and 3rd avenue "'’

These transportation improvements encouraged development throughout Harlem and
during the 1880s what had once been farmland gave way to speculative construction, primarily
long rows of single-family townhouses and French-flats buildings. During this period, the elevated
area north of 138" Street was commonly referred to as Washington Heights -- recalling the
Revolutionary War battles that had occurred here and the celebrations surrounding the Centennial
of Washington’s inauguration as President in 1889. Within lower Washington Heights, the blocks
that once made up Hamilton’s estate became known as Hamilton Grange. An "Observer” for The
Real Estate Record and Guide noted in September 1890:

None of us can visit the historic section of the city known as Hamilton Grange
without being impressed with the great change which has taken place in the locality
in the last five years . . . But the march of population, the increasing value of these
outlying grounds, and the attractiveness of the locality, all combined to place the
neighborhood in the hands of the modern beautifier, and from out the green fields
arose row after row of handsome residences, which were the great Washington
living, he would lock upon with pleasure and admiration.”

Although most streets between West 127® and West 150" Streets were opened by 1884, West
143" Street would not be built until after 1889 when the Grange was purchased by the banker

Historic District).

7 De Forest’s office was located at 466 Broome Street. He was the agent of the silk
manufacturer A. Guinet of Lyons, France. See “William H. De Forest Fails,” New York Times,
January 10, 1888, 8.

s King’s Handbook of New York City, (Boston, 1892), 123-24.
¥ “On Washington Heights,” Real Estate Record and Guide, September 6, 1890, 300.
 Real Estate Record and Guide, September 13, 1890, 334.

9



Amos Cotting and donated to St. Luke’s Episcopal Church. At this time, the house was moved
south and realigned to face west. Numerous alterations were made to the building, affecting the
front stairs, side porches, and interior plan. Over the next twenty-five years, the Grange was used
for various religious purposcs, serving as a temporary chapel, and after 1892, a rectory and
school?

De Forest divided the former Hamilton estate into three hundred building lots, and in late
1887 a much-discussed public auction was held at the Real Estate Exchange in,lower Manhattan.
Although dealers “recognized the sale as one of the most important of the year,” sales were
extremely disappointing — the result of high pricing, and as one critic wrote, the seller’s.
“prejudice against reasonable profits.”? In subsequent years, the situation failed to improve;
while some lots were sold at a sacnﬁoe De Forest was unable to meet his financial obligations.?

Despite fiscal difficulties, De Forest did lay the groundwork for thc nelghborhood’
present residential character. In this pre-zoning era, deed restrictions and restrictive covenants
were often employed to regulate use in developing residential areas and De Forest stipulated in an
1886 agreement that all future construction in Hamilton Heights be limited to “brick or stone
dwelling houses at least two stories in height.” Only one area was excluded, the shallow lots
fronting the east side of Tenth Avenue. '

To spur development in accordance with his plan, De Forest’s son, William De Forest, Jr.
commissioned the architect Harvey L. Page to design an apartment building and four adjoining
townhouses in the Queen Anne style (part of the Hamilton Heights Historic District) at the
southwest corner of Tenth Avenue and along West 144" Street. This pattern would be maintained
throughout the district, with mostly three and four-story townhouses designed by such as
architects as Henry Fouchaux and William E. Mowbray along the numbered streets, Convent
Avenue and Hamilton Terrace; and a continuous row of five to seven-story apartment buildings
on the east side of Amsterdam Avenue. In several instances -- at the northeast corners of 142
and 143" Streets, as well as the southeast corner of 144® Street -- a unified urban ensemble was
created in which the comner apartment buildings and the adjacent townhouses were designed by
the same residential specialists. These architects included C]arence True, Henry Andersen, and
Neville & Bagge. :

To underscore the Upper West Side’s transformed character, Tenth Avenue (above 59

# Margot Gayle, “Dream House: Home, Home on the Grange,” Daily News, February
17, 1991, 8; “Out Among the Builders,” Real Estate Record and Guide, December 22, 1888,
1516.

# “Real Estate in Demand, Buyers and Sellers on the Alert,” New York Times, January
15, 1888, 15. . ,

% “William H. De Forest Fails,” New York Times, January 10, 1888, 8.
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Street) was renamed Amsterdam Avenue by the Board of Alderman in 1890, who noted that such
a name change would have a “marked and beneficial effect on property” values.® Over the next
decade, eight multiple-unit dwellings, including the “Northfield,” “Chatham Hall,” and two
buildings called “Hamilton Grange,” were constructed along the east side of the avenue, between
West 140® and West 145" Streets. All but one were designed with residential entrances on the
side streets, permitting large commercial spaces with entrances facing the bustling traffic corridor.
By 1904, Amsterdam Avenue was recognized as “one of the finest thoroughfares in northern New
York.™®

In 1897 the City College of New York announced plans to relocate from the Gramercy
Park area to a Jarge elevated site immediately south of West 140® Street. Like Columbia and New
York Universities, which both built new campuses during the 1890s, the trustees’ goal was to
create an academic village, one that was removed from, but still part of, the city. As designed by
the prominent architect George B. Post, most of the Collegiate Gothic-style campus (1897-1930,
a designated New York City Landmark} was grouped on, or close to, Convent Avenue, including
the main building (Shepard Halt, 1907) and the arched stone and iron "Hamilton" entrance at
West 140th Street. Overall, City College had a positive impact on the surrounding neighborhood.
Not only did the thirty-five acre campus insulate Hamilton Heights from future development to
the south, but the students and faculty would provide area landlords with a steady stream of
tenants,?

During this first wave of development, Hamilton Heighis attracted a mix of middle to
upper middle-class white professionals. Native-born Protestants tended to dominate the
population, but there were also immigrants from Ireland, Italy, and Germany. Census records
document doctors, lawyers, merchants, as well as occasional live-in servants of various races and
ethnicities. To serve the community’s spiritual needs, four impressive religiouns structures were
constructed between West 1417 and West 145% Streets. Three were built on prominent corner

% Ninth Avenue (now Columbus) was similarly renamed in 1890. See Henry Moscow,
The Street Book, 22.

¥ Robert C. Brooks, “History of the Street and Rapid Transit Railways of New York
City,” dissertation, Cornell University, 1904, 349.

% Buildings in the Hamilton Heights area once associated with City College include: No.
280 Convent Avenue (Alumni House, part of the Hamilton Heights Historic District), Nos. 292-
296 Convent Avenue (aka City College House Plan, part of the Hamilton Heights Historic
District), No. 504 West 140" Street (aka College Commissary; originally Fire Engine Company
No. 80), No. 469 West 142* Street (the Newman Club of City College, part of the Hamilton
Heights Historic District Extension) and No. 336 Convent Avenue (used as a fraternity house,
now vacant, part of the Hamilton Heights Historic District). In addition, No. 341-45 Convent
Avenue (now Lutheran Hospital) was once known as the “College View” Nursing Home (part of
the Hamilton Heights Historic District).
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sites: St. Luke’s Episcopal Church (R. H. Robertson, 1892-95), at the northeast corner of
Convent Avenue and West 141st Street; Washington Heights (now Convent Avenue) Baptist
Church (Lamb & Rich, 1897-99) at the southeast corner of Convent Avenue and West 145th -
Street; and Lenox (now St. James) Presbyterian Church (Ludlow & Valentine, 1904), at the
northwest corner of St. Nicholas Avenue and West 141st Streét. All are located within the
boundaries of the existing Hamilton Heights Historic Dlsmct

Subsequent Developments, 1900-1925

By the turn of the century, the neighborhood’s first phase of development was complete.
The streets had been paved, gas street lamps installed, the city water system upgraded, and a mix
of fine private residences, low-rise apartment houses, and religious buildings had been
constructed.”” In 1904 the Interborough Rapid Transit Company (IRT) began operating:along
Broadway, to stations at 137" and 145th Streets, further accelerating tho development of the
area. : :

In 1903 -Our Lady of Lourdes Roman Catholic Church was completed on West 142™
Street, the only mid-block -- and Catholic -- church in Hamilton Grange. Founded by Monsignor
Joseph H. McMahon in 1901, the congregation temporarily worshiped in a former darice studio
on the second floor of a commercial building at the northeast corner of Amsterdam Avenue and
West 145® Street. In November 1901 the parish acquired seven lots from the city at a cost of
$64,000. Although a group of local residents sued to block construction, claiming that “zoning
regulations” prohibited non-residential use, the courts failed to sustain such objections.® The
arch;tcctura] firm of O’Reilly Brothers was commissioned to design the church and by Christmas
1903 the first Mass had been held and the building had been dedicated. Incorporating omament
and materials salvaged from three memorable nineteenth century-buildings originally in midtown
. Manhattan -- the National Academy of Design (1865, demolished 1900), the A, T. Stewart
-mansion (1867, later the Manhattan Club, demolished 1901}, and the east end of St. Patrick’s
Roman Catholic Cathedral (1858-70) -- the resourceful design was praised by the Architectural
Record for its “architectiiral as well as devotional piety.”” Not only did this solution prove to be
less expensive than designing an entirely new structure, but it a]so prowded the commumty with a
lasting reminder of the city’s recent past.

¥ For a brief history of the New York City water system up to 1890, see LPC,
Williamsbridge Reservoir Keeper s House Designation Report (LP-2047) (New York: City.of
New York, 2000).

B Our Lady ofLourdes.-i 75 Years, '(C-ustombook,' 1976), 6. Perhaps these"‘zoning
regulations” were the deed restrictions created by De Forest in 1886.

® Architectural Record, April 1907,
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More than two thousand, mainly second and third generation Irish and German, families
joined the congregation in the decade that folowed. Gradually, a modest religious complex would
develop around the church, including two buildings commissioned by the congregation: a five-
story convent beside the church on West 142nd Street (Nicholas Serracino, 1911-12) and a five
hundred student parochial school directly behind the church on West 143rd Street (F. A. De
Meuron, 1912-13). Built for the Sisters of St. Ursula of the Blessed Virgin, the convent housed
sixteen teachers and the Mother Superior. The four-story school, built for grades one through
eight, incorporated an anditorium, gymnasium, and roof-top playground. Opposite the church,
No. 472 West 142™ Sireet (part of the Hamilton Heights Historic District) was acquired to serve
as the rectory, and during the 1930s two additional row houses, immediately west of the church,
were acquired: No. 474 West 142" Street, by purchase, and No, 469 West 142™ Street, by gift
(both Neville & Bagge, 1895-96). The latter row house became the Newman Club of City
College, offering Catholic students various social and religious activities. In addition, from 1918
to 1943 the church owned No. 330 Convent Avenue, between West 143" and West 144® Streets
(part of the Hamilton Heights Historic District), where it administered a girl’s school run by the
Sisters of St. Ursula. '

De Forest’s restrictions against multiple-unit residences east of Amsterdam Avenue
expired in late 1911. On Convent Avenue, where Hamilton’s mansion originally stood,
development had been delayed by the survival of the thirteen gum trees he had planted, protected
by a low wood fence. These trees, however, had only a few years to live. In 1898 The Harlem
Local Reporter called for their preservation by a “patriot citizen,” but by 1904 only seven
remained standing.*® Four years later, most, if not all of the trees were dead or had been cut
down.*! :

Early in 1911, David C. Leech, who had owned the historic property since 1898, sold the
entire block front between West 142™ and 143" Streets to Judson S. Todd, who erected the six-
story Beaux-Arts style “Hamilton Grange™ at No. 310 Convent Avenue (Schwartz & Gross,
1911-12).* Over the next five years, six apartment buildings would rise east of Amsterdam
Avenue. Neville & Bagge designed a pair of identical tan brick neoclassical-style buildings at No.
53 and No. 63 Hamilton Terrace, complementing the block’s existing limestone and brownstone-
fronted row houses. Two of the most impressive examples stood within view, and directly north,
of City College: Soundview Court at No. 260 Convent Avenue (George F. Petham, 1911-12), and
No. 270 Convent Avenue (Frank L. Norton, 1915-16). Bailt in a similar Beaux-Arts style and
decorated with exuberant terra-cotta details, these limestone and brick towers remain the tallest

¥ Pierece, caption below illustration facing page 138.

3 Pieces of Hamilton’s trees were said to have been given to Banker's Trust and sold by
local boys as souvenirs.

%2 Real Estate Record and Guide, Janvary 21, 1911, 120. “For sale” signs were first
posted on the “little lot” in January 1898. Harlem Local Reporter, January 29, 1898, 4.
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structures in the Historic District, rising ten stories,

Between 1905 and 1915, the area’s population increased by more than fifty percent.® In

response, a significant number of civic improvements were undertaken, including the completion .. -

of St. Nicholas Park 1o the southeast (Samuel Parsons, by 1910), Colonial (now Jackie Robinson)
Park™ to the northeast (by 1910), Fire Engine Company No. 80 on West 139" Street (Alexander
Stevens, 1905), and the “Hamilton Grange” branch of the New York Public Library on West 145%
Street (McKim, Mead & White, 1903, a designated New York City Landmark). Two notable
entertainment venues opened on Broadway, close to the 145 Street IRT subway station: B. S.
Moss’s “Hamilton Theater,” a vaudeville house seating 1,800 persons at 146® Street (Thomas W
Lamb, 1912-13, a designated New York City Landmark) and the Bunny (now Nova) Theater,
between 146® and 147"' Streets (George F. Pelham, 1913).

The Hamilton Heights area after 1925

_ Various names given to the area -- Harlem Heights, lower Washington Heights, and _
Hamilton Grange -- fell out of use during the 1930s. Although most of Manhattan north of 125
Street was commonly referred to as Harlem, according to a study by Columbia University
(1935)% and The WPA Guide to New York City (1939), the “southern portion of Washmgton
Heights [was] often called Hamﬂton Heights.”*

The neighborhood’s white population began to decline dun‘ng the Depression years,
replaced by a growing number of African American, and later, Hispanic residents. Several
churches in the Historic District were sold to African-American congregations, including the -

* This population growth refers to the larger Hamilton Heights/Manhattanville area. See
- “A Preservation Plan for Hamilton Heights/Manhattanville,” unpublished manuscript, Graduate
School of Architecture, Planning and Preservation, Columbia University, 1996-97, 15.

* “Five New Laws for Five New Parks,” Real Estate Record and Guide, June 23, 1894,
100. According to this article, Colonial Park was given priority and the land was scheduled to be
acquired by condemnation.

% “A Study of the Hamilton Heights Section of Upper Manhéttan Island,” unpublished
manuscript, School of Architecture, Columbia University, May 24, 1935.

% Rider’s Guide to New York City, published in 1923, continued to describe the area as
the southern section of Washmgton Heights, extending from 130"1 to 160“' Streets. WPA Guide,
294. _ .
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Lenox Presbyterian Church, transferred to St. James Presbyterian Church in 1927,7 and the
Washington Heights Bapiist Church, which was renamed the Convent Avenue Baptist Church in
1942.% That same year St. Luke’s Eplsc0pal Church, for the first time, opened its doors to
people of all races.’

By the early 1950s, the neighborhood’s population would be solidly African American.
Whereas prior to the Depression blacks dominated central Harlem, it wasn’t until the mid-to late-
1930s that a significant number resided in Hamilton Heights. A map published in the New York
. Sun (March 1935), represented blacks living no farther south than West 144" Street, in such
buildings as the Sadivian Arms apartments, Nos. 400-418 West 145" Street, and possibly Nos.
413-425 West 144* Street (part of Hamilton Heights Historic District). Similar findings were
reported by a Columbia University in 1935; Organized “to consider plans for the protection and
improvement” of the area, the only section identified as “occupied by negroes” was said to be in
the row houses on the south side of West 145™ Street.*

Initially, most blacks lived in row houses that were converted to multiple-family
residences.*’ One of the earliest examples in the area was at No. 468 West 145" Street, which
became a rooming house in ¢. 1928,* a year after construction began on the Independent Subway
(IND) station at the intersection of 145® Street and St. Nicholas Avenue. In the decade that
followed, and especially during the early years of the Depression, the number of conversions
multiplied.*® For instance, in 1939 the composer Billy Strayhorn moved into a converted
brownstone at No. 315 Convent Avenue (part of the Hamilton Heights Historic District) where he
and his partner lived for seven years in a ground floor apartment opening onto a garden. Jimmy
Rushing, the celebrated blues singer and vocalist for the Count Basie Orchestra also lived

¥ The 55" Street congregation, which initially planned to build a new sanctuary on 137®
Streét, paid $248,000 for the West 141" Street building.

_ ¥ Convent Avenue, between West 144® and 145" Street, is named for the church’s
minister, Rev. Dr. John W. Saunders.

% “A Preservation Plan for the Hamilton Heights/Manhattanville area,” 16.

“ Letter to Joseph Hudnt, part of “A Study of the Hamilton Height Secnon of Upper
Manhattan Island,” unpaginated. Also see map inserted between pages 6, 7.

' Although such conversions had been legal since 1919, it is difficult to estimate what
percentage of single-family houses in Hamilton Heights were adapted in this fashion.

“ See New York Building Department, Certificate of Occupancy, No. 422-27.

“ Express service on the A train began in September 1932. D service began in December
. 1940,
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upstairs.** Other neighborhood residents included the pianist-composer Mary Lou Williams* at
No. 63 Hamilton Terrace, and the big band leader and stride pianist Charles Luckeyth “Luckey”
Roberts, who owned a popular nightclub on St. Nicholas Place and 149® Stréet (not part of the
Historic District) known as the Luckey’s Rendezvous or the Rendezvous Club.

During the late 1930s houses were also purchased by African-American families. Lenon
and Lewis Hoyte acquired No. 6 Hamilton Terrace (part of the Hamilton Heights Historic
District) in 1938, a forty-year old brick and limestone row house. Lenon, who studied at nearby
City College and Columbia University, became a well-known collector of dolls. ‘During the
1960s, she founded Aunt Len’s Doll and Toy Museum in her home, which was Jater described in
the New.York Times as “one of the most extensive private collections of dolls and related toys in
the United States.™® ' :

Beginning in the mid-1940s, the apartment buildings along the west side of Convent
Avenue attracted many successful black residents.*’ The apartment building at No. 270 Convent
Avenue continued to be one of the most prestigious addresses; with many notable tenants, such as
the writer and critic George S. Schuyler, who moved in after 1944,* and the orchestra conductor

* David Hajdu, Lush Life: A Biography of Billy Strayhorn (North Point Press, 1996),
67-72. o - S

* Williams was a prolific composer. In 1946 compositions from her “Zodiac Suite” were
performed at Carnegie Hall by the New York Philharmonic. This was the first time that the
orchestra performed works by a black woman. See The Black New Yorkers: 400 Years of African
American History, 265.

% <Lenon Hoyte, 94, Who Offered Her Love of Dolls to the World,” New York Times,
September 9, 1999. '

- #T Tuis difficult to be certain when apartment buildings in the area first permitted black
residents. No. 409 Edgecombe Avenue opened to Afncan-Amencans in 1928 and No. 555
Edgecombe Avenue in 1940.. See 555 Edgecombe Avenue Apartments (LPC-1862) and 409
Edgecombe Avenue Apartments (LP-1861) (both LPC, New York, 1993). According to research
provided by Manhattan Community Board District 9, in 1938 No. 270 Convent Avenue was
purchased by Augustine A. Austin, the president of the Antillean Holding Company, which later
purchased No. 409 Edgecombe Avenue. It was probably at this time that its apartments were first
rented to blacks. -

* During the 1930s he lived at No. 321 Edgecombe Avenue. His daughter Philippa Duke
Schuyler, an eight year old prodigy, had a day at the New York World’s Fair named in her honor.
At the age of five she composed her first piece for piano. She became a journalist and was killed
in a helicopter accident during the Vxetnam War. The Black New Yorkers (Wllcy & Sons, 2000),
250, 321.
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Dean C. Dixon.** Other notable residents included M. Moran-Weston, Reverend at St. Philip’s
Epsicopal Church (a designated New York City Landmark) on West 134® Street, Clifford L.
Alexander, Jr., associate counsel to President Lyndon Johnson,™ Lester Granger and Edward S.
Lewis, leaders of the National Urban League,” and Harold Stevens, the first African American to
serve on the Supreme Court of New York State.

These demographic trends peaked in the 1970s. Although the Harlem Task force
characterized the neighborhood’s population as “totally black” in 1973, census records indicate a
significant number of Hispanic, particularly Puerto Rican, residents, at more than 13 per cent.
The Task Force praised the neighborhood’s “stable residential pattern,” particularly the houses
along Convent Avenue, which it described as “among the best built and best preserved in all of
New York City.”?

Histories Preserved

During the 1920s, Alexander Hamilton's association with the neighborhood began to
attract considerable interest. The intersection of Amsterdam Avenue and Hamilton Place (near
144™ Street, not part of the district) was renamed Alexander Hamilton Square in 1921, and three
years later the Grange was acquired by the American Scenic and Historic Preservation Society for
use as a museurn which opened in 1933. It was at this time that area began to be called Hamilton
Heights. A lifesize bronze statue of Hamilton (William Ordway Partridge, 1892), installed facing
Convent Avenue, was donated to the museum by the' Hamilton Club of Brooklyn Heights in 1936.
Acquired by the National Parks Service in 1962, the Grange is presently known as the Hamilton

4 Founder of the New York Chamber Orchestra, Dixon performed with such notable
orchestras as the NBC Symphony, the New York Philharmonic, and the Philadelphia Orchestra.
Unable 10 secure a permanent position, from 1949 to 1970 he lived abroad. The Black New
Yorkers, 213, 242, 255, 272.

% After studying at Yale, in 1958 Alexander was appointed assistant district attorney for
New York County. In 1961 he was named director of the Manhattanville-Hamilton Grange
Neighborhood Conservation Project. Under President Kennedy he served on the National
Security Council. In 1977 he became the first black secretary of the United States Army. The
Black New Yorkers, 285, 293, 298, 360.

' Granger became executive director of the National Urban League in 1941, The Black
New Yorkers, 255. ‘ '

2 A Profile of Harlem: Findings of the Harlem Task Force (The Harlem Urban
Development Corporation, December 1973), 28-29.

% Tt is presently called Johnny Hartman Plaza, named for the famed jazz vocalist.
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Grange Natronal Memortal It was desrgnated a New York City Landmark in August 1967.%

In November 1966 the New York Ctty Landmarks Commtss:on held a public heanng
regarding the creation of an historic district in Hamilton Heights.*> A second hearing was held in
1974 regarding the proposal and the Hamilton Heights Historic District was designated-in
November. The designation report outlined both the dlstnct s spec:al quahttes and the
commission’s goals, observmg ,

Set apart from the busy. thoroughfares to the north east and west, this resrdenttal
- community has a charming character all its own .
Designation of the {Hamilton Heights Historic] Dlstrlct will strengthen the
community by preventing further loss . . . [it] is a major step towards insuring the
protection and enhancement of the quahty and character of the entire’
neighborhood.* \

The Hamilton Heights Historic District emphasized row house construction and ecclesiastical
~-architecture. This designation of the Extension adds the multiple dwellings and row houses that

" were excluded from the 1974 district, incorporating the full range of architectural works that

contribute to the character of this fine residential quarter. With unbroken rows of handsome
townhouses, contemporaneous apartment buildings and. religious structures, Hamilton Heights
remams one of the c1ty S most archttecturally distinctive. enclaves

- % The Hamﬂton Grange branch of the New York Public L1brary was designated a New
York City Landmark in March 1970 and Our Lady of Lourdes Roman Catholic Church in May
1975. '

55 As-originally proposed in 1966 the boundaries of the Hamilton Heights Historic District
were slightly larger than later approvecl mcludmg Convent Avenue and Hamilton Terrace in their
entirety, from West 140® to 145 Streets. These additional bmldtngs are included in the Hamilton
Heights Historic District Extensron

% LPC, Hamilton Het'ghts Historic District De.tt'gnatt'on Report (New York, 19‘74), 7a.
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Alexander Hamilton’s surviving gum trees, between West 142™ and 143™ Streets, ¢. 1901

Members of St. Luke’s Episcopal Church on the steps of Hamilton Grange
probably October 29, 1888

Source: New York Public Library
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“Houses at Hamilton Grange, 144" Street and 10" Avenue” by W. W. Kent
from Building, December 17, 1887

Our Lady of Lourdes, east facade, before 1911
source: The History of Our Lady of Lourdes: 75 Years
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Soundview Apartments (No. 260 Convent Avenue) under construction, c. 1910
Source: Norton and Patterson, Living It Up: A Guide to the Named Apartment Houses of New York, 317.
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BUILDING ENTRIES

WEST 140" STREET (north side) aka Alphonso B. Deal Street
Between Convent and Amsterdam Avenues

451 West 140" Street
See: 260 Convent Avenue

477 West 140™ Street, aka 1619-1625 Amsterdam Avenue
Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block/Lot: 2057/29

Building Name: The Hamilton

Date: 1900 (NB 263-1900)

Architect: George F. Pelham

Original Owner/Builder: Samuel Quincy
Type: tenement

Style/ornament: neo-classical

Number of stories: 7
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History

Originally called The Hamilton, this seven-story tenement was designed by George F. Pelham to
complement the adjoining building, No. 476 West 1417 Street. Located at the northeast corner of
West 140™ Street and Amsterdam Avenue, the 40 by 100 foot site was acquired by the West Side
developer Samuel Quincy on March 29, 1900. Estimated to cost $150,000, the building was
planned with apartments for thirty-six families as well as stores along Amsterdam Avenue.
Construction began in July 1900, and was completed by July 30, 1901.

Description

Clad in red brick, The Hamilton's two street facades are divided by raised moldings into four
distinct sections: ground or first story, second story, third through sixth stories, and the seventh
story. The molding that divides the sixth and seventh stories has a foliate motif. Quoins of
alternating dimensions, made of terra cotta, mark the southwest and southeast corners on floors
three through six. The entrance to the apartments, on West 140th Street, is reached through an
[onic portico supported by two pairs of composite columns set on high bases. The columns
support an entablature decorated with Renaissance Revival-style reliefs. Inside the portico are two
pairs of Ionic pilasters. West of the entrance, the building’s rusticated base is painted off-white. It
features two (sealed) windows with voussoirs and sills, as well as an historic decorative iron
fence, enclosing the areaway, that is anchored to the facade.

The areaway, now, in part, covered by grates, also extends alongside the front of the building.
The lower level, visible through grates, has arched windows, some of which are sealed. The four
storefronts, marked by aluminum gates and vinyl awnings, are not historic. Above the
southernmost storefronts, segments of the original cornice are visible.

The windows in the upper stories are non-historic and double-hung. The south facade (on West
140th Street) has four evenly-spaced windows per floor; and the Amsterdam Avenue facade has
twelve windows on each floor, two of which are double windows. On floors three through five,
the windows have keystones that are identical to those on the second floor, set into and above
limestone voussoirs. All but two of the sixth floor voussoirs have no keystones; and the windows
on the seventh floor have neither keystones nor voussoirs. The windows on floors three through
seven have limestone sills. The second and seventh stories have raised horizontal banded
brickwork between the windows.

All windows are identical size, except on Amsterdam Avenue where the seventh window from the
corner of West 140" Street is smaller than the rest. Unlike the majority of windows, these smaller
windows have no keystones. Below each pair is a terra-cotta spandrel with raised reliefs. A series
of original fire escapes, with curved balconies and steep ladders, is attached in front of the sixth
window from the south corner. Above the seventh floor is a substantial projecting denticulated
and bracketed metal cornice. The east facade, painted grey on the seventh floor, is faced with
brick. A non-historic gate provides access to a rear service alley and stairs. A non-historic fire
escape is installed in front of the second and third windows from the south. All of the windows
are non-historic and double-hung.
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WEST 141* STREET (south side)
Between Convent and Amsterdam Avenues

476 West 141* Street, aka 1627-1635 Amsterdam Avenue
Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block/Lot: 2057/56

Building Name: Chatham Hall
Date: 1894-96 (NB 273-1894)
Architect: Van Campen Taylor
Original Owner: F. S. Baldwin
Type: flats

Style/ornament: neo-classical
Number of stories: 7 and basement




History

Chatham Hall is a seven-story flats building designed by Van Campen Taylor. Named after the
(first) Earl of Chatham, William Pitt (1708-1778), the name makes reference to the struggle for
American independence and Pitt’s support of the colonists opposition to British taxation. Located
at the southeast corner of Amsterdam Avenue and West 141st Street, the building was planned
with twelve apartments and stores along Amsterdam Avenue. Construction began March 19,
1894 and, due to amendments to the original building department application, was completed
more than two-and-a-half years later, in late November 1897. Almost identical to its neighbor, it
probably served as inspiration for No. 477 West 140th Street, built 1900-1.

Description

Clad in red brick with limestone details, No. 476 West 141st Street has a stone foundation with
partial steel framing. The Amsterdam Avenue facade is divided by moldings into four sections:
ground floor, second floor, third through sixth floors, and seventh floor. The sixth and seventh
floors are divided by egg and dart molding The projecting metal cornice above the seventh floor is
original, though it has lost much of its detail toward the south end. All of the windows are double-
hung. Notable decorative features include the terra-cotta surrounds on the second floor windows,
terra-cotta spandrels below the paired windows on floors three through six, and quoins of
alternating size that the mark the northwest and northeast corners. The seventh story has
rusticated brick bands. A series of original curved fire escapes with steep ladders is installed in
front of the fourth row of windows from the south corner. Additional fire escapes are located on
the building’s rear (east) facade.

Five non-historic glazed aluminum storefronts line Amsterdam Avenue. Vinyl awnings, and roll-
down metal gates may obscure historic elements, including the frieze. The southernmost
storefront has a sign and awning that extends to the curb. Facing north on West 141st is the
entrance to the apartments, marked by an Ionic portico with columns set on small pedestals.
These columns support an entablature decorated with Renaissance-Revival style reliefs. To the
west are three windows; two have rusticated voussoirs and stone sills. The center window (in
part) and the west window are obscured by a commercial billboard. The east window is set
between the entrance and an engaged Ionic pilaster, supported by a corbel. Between the pilaster
and stairs are Renaissance-Revival style relief panels. Above the entrance and windows is a simple
stone molding that extends to the corner, and turns briefly onto Amsterdam Avenue, where the
stone has been removed during a previous alteration. The building’s original wrought-iron fence,
surrounding an areaway, extends from the corner of Amsterdam Avenue to the stairs. Non-
historic pipe railings have been installed to either side of the entry stairs. Set within the portico is
a non-historic aluminum door with a small window to the east and larger window above.
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WEST 142" STREET (north side)
Between Convent and Amsterdam Avenues

Convent of Our Lady of Lourdes Church
463 West 142™ Street
Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block/Lot: 2058/37

Date: 1911-12 (NB 725-1911)

Architect: Nicholas Serracino

Original Owner/Developer: Sisters of St. Ursula of the Blessed Virgin
Type: Convent

Style/ornament: neo-Gothic

Number of stories: 5
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History

This free-standing five-story neo-Gothic style structure was built on an undeveloped lot, directly
east of Our Lady of Lourdes Church, in 1911-12. The site, which originally extended 170 feet
east to Convent Avenue, was divided by, and purchased from, Judson S. Todd of the Holland
Holding Company. The convent was designed by Nicholas Serracino, an Italian-born architect
who specialized in ecclesiastical work. In 1902, three nuns from the Order of St. Ursula of the
Blessed Virgin were invited by the church’s founder, Father Joseph H. McMahon, to open a
kindergarten (and later Primary Department) in a rented house at No. 505 West 144" Street. By
the following year, ninety-seven students were enrolled. A parish house was purchased for the
nuns at No. 523 West 142™ Street, which they inhabited until construction of the present building.
Projected to cost $40,000, by 1915 the convent was home to sixteen nuns, six houseworkers, and
two students. Most of the residents were foreign born, from France, Ireland, and Poland. During
the 1940s the Sisters of St. Ursula withdrew from the parish. At this time, the convent was
purchased by the church and offered to the Sisters of the Holy Child who had run the school’s
Grammar Department (the four upper grades) since 1904.

Description

The convent has a white brick facade with limestone details. Set behind the original iron gate with
neo-Gothic details, the ground floor has a central entrance with a rusticated pointed-arch
surround that meets a molding dividing the first and second stories. The gate surrounds the
areaway and the basement windows are visible. At the west corner of the first story is a limestone
cornerstone inscribed with the date A.D. 1912 and the insignia of the Sisters of St. Ursula. The
first story has four double-hung windows with segmental arches and brick voussoirs. Original iron
gates cover each window. The base has stylized banded brickwork suggesting rustication.

The second story has three pairs of double-hung lancet windows with stone surrounds above the
stringing line. The surrounds rest on moldings that extend between the windows. The surrounds
link the outside window pairs to the central pair, which has smaller windows surmounted by a
limestone statue of the Virgin Mary set into a niche. The statue and central windows are grouped
below a pointed arch on which "CONVENT OF OUR" and "LADY OF LOURDES" is inscribed.
The third floor fenestration is identical to the second floor except that the windows rest on
limestone sills above a thin brick channel that extends across the facade. The fourth floor windows
have linked flat pointed arch surrounds. The fifth story windows sit on a limestone molding that
extends across the entire facade. The central pair is smaller than the other windows. At the top of
the facade is an elaborate neo-Gothic style copper cornice with a denticulated molding at its base.
This lower molding obscures some of the tips of the lancet windows on the fifth floor.

To the west of the building is a narrow passage, entered through a pointed limestone arch
springing from white brick columns. A non-historic metal gate is installed within the arch. Due to
the narrow space between the church and the convent, and the convent and the rear of No. 302-
304 Convent Avenue, the building’s east and west facades are barely visible.

Significant References
New York State Census Records, 1915

Our Lady of Lourdes 75 Years (Custombook, Inc., 1976)
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Our Lady of Lourdes Roman Catholic Church
467 West 142" Street
Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block/Lot: 2058/33
THIS IS AN INDIVIDUAL LANDMARK, designated 1975

Date: 1902-1904

Architect/Builder: O' Reilly Brothers

Owner/Developer: Our Lady of Lourdes Roman Catholic Church
Type: church

Style/ornament: neo-Gothic

Number of stories: 3 and basement
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History

Constructed on the north side of West 142" Street, Our Lady of Lourdes Roman Catholic Church
is located on a mid-block site measuring 75 by 100 feet. Built by the O' Reilly Brothers in 1902-
04, the firm's design incorporates architectural elements from three distinguished structures: the
National Academy of Design (P. B. Wight, 1865); St. Patrick's Cathedral (James Renwick, 1858-
79), and the A. T. Stewart Mansion (John Kellum, 1867).

Founded in 1901 by Father Joseph H. McMahon, a noted liturgist and supporter of liberal causes,
the church purchased seven building lots from the City of New York in 1901, costing $64,000.
During construction, services were held in a former dance academy located at the corner of
Amsterdam Avenue and West 145th Street. Although neighborhood residents argued that De
Forest's 1886 deed restrictions prohibited structures that were not residential, the courts refused
to block construction and in May 1902 the cornerstone was laid.

Despite the unusual provenance of its building elements, O' Reilly Brothers succeeded in creating
a new structure from recycled, mostly neo-Gothic, elements. The east facade, which remained
visible until the construction of the apartment building at No. 302 Convent Avenue and the
Convent of Our Lady of Lourdes in 1912, has two sources: the row of pointed-arch windows are
from the National Academy of Design, and the larger single window with neo-Gothic tracery is
from east end of St. Patrick's Cathedral, near Madison Avenue.

The apse, at the building's north end, incorporates elements obtained from St. Patrick's Cathedral

(where McMahon had been assistant pastor) that were replaced by the new Lady Chapel (Charles
T. Matthews) in 1901-6. It consists of a large central window with tracery flanked by smaller side
windows and buttresses terminating in pinnacles. The elaborately carved marble pedestals, which

flank the wide front steps, came from the A. T. Stewart mansion, demolished in 1901.

Dedicated by Archbishop John M. Farley in December 1902, the church attracted more than two
thousand, mostly second and third generation, Irish and German families as congregants.
McMahon died in 1939 and was succeeded by Monsignor John Stanley. Over the next decade
there was a substantial drop in parishioners, from 5,600 to fewer than 2,700 persons. In recent
years Our Lady of Lourdes has attracted a large number of Hispanic and African-American
worshipers. To mark the parish’s seventy-fifth anniversary, in March 1976, the jazz pianist and
composer Mary Lou Williams, a resident of No. 63 Hamilton Terrace, supervised a “Feast Day”
and “Jazz” mass.

Description

The main facade, on West 142" Street, faces south. Identical marble p